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The Director of the National Park Service is pleased to inform you tnat the following properties have
been entered in the National Register of Historic Places during tne week Deglnning June D, LY83 and
ending June 11, 1983. For further information call (202) 343~-9552.

STATE,County,Vicinity,Property, Address,(Date Listed)

ALABAMA, Talladega County, Talladega, Boxwood, 4U6 E. North 5t. (06/09/83)

CALIFORNIA, Santa Clara County, Saratoga vicinity, riasson, Paul, mountain Winery, Pierce Kd.
(06/09/83)

CONNECTICUT, Fairfield County, Danbury, Meeker's Hardware (The Red Block), 86~—9U White St.
(06/09/83)

GEQORGIA, Floyd County, Rome, Between the Rivers Historic District, Koughly bounded by the rKtowah
and Oostanaula Rivers, and 7th Ave. (06/09/83)

INDIANA, Boone'COunty, Zionévill.e, Town Hali(Castle dall), 65 £. Cedar st. (06/09/83)
INDIANA, Marion County, Indlanapolis, Scottish Rite Cathedral, 650 N. Meridian St. (Uo/U0/83)

KENTUCKY, Kenton County, Covington, Covington Downtown Commercial nistoric District, Kougily
bounded by C &0 Raiiroad, Robbins, Greenup and 4th Sts. {(Ub/09/83)

MASSACHUSET?YS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Allen, tlisha, House (Renobotn M KA), {US homestead
Rd. (06/06/83) _

MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Anawam Club Ciubhouse ana Laretaker's nouse
(Rehoboth MRA), 13 Gorham St. (06/06/83)

MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Anawan Rock {(Rehoboth M KA), Anawan 3st. (Uo/0b/583)
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Baker House (Kehobotn M Ka), 1Yl dornblne xd.
(06/06/83)

MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Bliss, Abian, House (Kehoboth i KA), 154 Agricuiturai
Ave. (06/06/83)

MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Bliss, Damel, Homestead (Renhovoth MKA), 70
Homesteaa Ave. {(06/00/83)

MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, sowen, Nathan, House (kenoboth MRA), 26 Kelton St.
(06/06/83)

MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Brambie Hill (Rehoboth MRA), 32 Moulton St. (06/06/83)
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Briggs Tavern (Kehoboth MR AJ, 2 Anawan St. (Wo/Ub/83)
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Brown House (Renoboth MK 4a), 384 Tre mont St.
{06/06/83)
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Carpenter sridge (Rencboth MK AJ, Carpenter St.
(06/06/83)

MASSACHUSKTTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Carpenter House (Rehoboth i RA), 89 Carpenter st.
(06/06/83) '
1ASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Renoboth, Carpenter, Christopner, House (kenoboth i RA), 6U
Carpenter St. (06/06/83)




MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Carpenter, Col. Thomas, LI, nouse {(Kehobotn MunA) 77

Bay State Rd. (06/06/83) . e

r-lASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Renoboth, Cushing, Caieb, House and Farm (Kenobotn riKay, 186
Pine St. (06/06/83) o s
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Urown, Nathanlel, House {Kenoboth MK4), 110 dummer
st. (06/06/83) . , o .
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, ilm Cottage/Blanding Farm (Kenobotn MKa), 1U3 broad
st. (06/06/83) | ]
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Goff Farm (Rehoboth MKXA), 158 Perryviile Kd.
(06/06/83) _
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Goff Homestead (Rehobotn MKA), 40 riaple Lane
(06/06/83) _ .
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Hornbine Baptist Church (Kehoboth MKRAJ, 141 Hornbine
Rd. (06/06/83) _
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Hornbine School (Rehoboth M KA), 144 Hornbine Rd.
(06/06/83)
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Horton, Welcome, Farm (Kehoboth MKA), 122 Martin St.
(06/06/83)
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, House at 197 Hornbine Road (Renoboth MR A), 197
Hornbine Rd. (06/06/83)
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, House at 30 Kelton Street (Rehoboth MRA), 30U Kelton
st. (06/06/83) .
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Kehoboth, Ingalls~Wheeler-Horton Homestead site {Renopboth
MRA), 214 Chestnut St. (06/06/83)
MASSACHUSKETTS, Bristol County, Kehoboth, Kingsley House (Kehoboth M KA), Y6 Davis 5t. (U6/U6/83)
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Knapp, Seth, Jr., House (Kehopoth MK A), 8L water St.
(06/06/83)
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Martin Farm (Renoboth M RA), 121 martin st. (Uo/Ub/83)
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Kehoboth, Peck—sowen House (Kenhodotn i Ka), 33V Kairview Ave.
(06/06/83)
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Perry, James House (Kenobotn mKA), 12l Perryviie xd.
(06/06/83) _ ,
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Pierce, Capt. Mial, Farm (Kenoboth mKA), 177 Hornpine
Rd. (06/06/83)
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Renoboth Village Historic istrict (Kenoboth M Ka), say
State Rd. and Locust Ave. (06/06/83)
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Kehoboth, Viall, Samuel, house (Rehoboth MK A), 85 Carpenter st.
(06/06/83)
MASSACHUSETTS, Bristol County, Rehoboth, Wheeler, Aaron, House {Rehobotn MKA), 371 Fairview
Ave. {06/06/83) ‘

MISSOURI, Clay County, Excelsior Springs, Hall of Waters, 201 u. sroadway (06/0Y/83)
MISSOURI, Jackson County, Kansas City, South Side Historic District, Koughly bounded by 38th,40th,
Walnut, and Baltimore Sts. (06/09/83)

NORTH DAKOTA, Grand Forks County, Grand Forks, VeRemer, Joseph Bell, House, 625 Belmont Kd.
(06/09/83)

OKLAHOMA, Oklahoma County, Oklahoma City, Luster, Melvin F., House, 300 N.&, 3rd St. (U6/u7/53)

&K}.Of;;tsg)méi, Tulsa County, Tuisa, St. Jonn Vianney Training School for Giris, 4001 &. Lulst St.
]

{ “(ENNSYLVA NIA, Sullivan County, Lopez vicinity, Kicketts, Clemuel, mansion, Ot Pa 4587 (Uo/UY/53)




RHODE ISLAND, Washington County, North Kingstown vicinity, wischio Site, RI-10uU, (00/U7/53)

r*"EXAS, Tarrant County, Fort Worth, Sanquinet, Marsnail K., House, 4729 Coilinwood aAve. (06/07/83)
fEXAS, Williamson County, Round Rock, Round Rock Com mercial Historic District, U0 and 200 Blks
E. Main St. (06/09/83)

UTAH, Tooele County, Ophir, Ophir Town Hali, 43 S. Main St. (06/09/83)

UTAH, Weber County, Ogden, Ogden High School (Ogden Art Deco Buildings Tk), 2628 larrison 3ivd.
(06/07/83)

UTAH, Weber County, Ogden, Ogden/Weber Municipal Building (Ogden Art Deco Buildings IR), 2541
Washington Blvd. 206507/83)

VERMONT, Chittenden County, Burlingtoun, City Hall Park Historic District, Church, College, Main
and St. Paul Sts. (06/09/83)

The following properties were also entered in the National Register but were excluaed from a previous
notice:

ALASK 4, Sitka Division, Sitka, Russian Bishop's House, Lincoln and Monastery sts. (05/15/83)

COLORADO, Denver County, Denver, Kistler-Rodriguez House, 700 &. 9th Ave. (U5/27/83)

MASSACHUSETTS, Hampden County, Springfield, Smith Carmage Company Vistrict (Downcown
Springfield MRA), Bounded by Main, Peabody, Wiilow, and Park Sts. (both sides) (U5/27/83)

MICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kaiamazoo, Appeldorn, Peter B., nouse (Kalamazoo M KA), 32
Village St. (05/27/83)

MICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, Bronson Park Historic Distnct‘(&alamazoo MKA),
Roughly bounded by 5. Rose, 8. Park, W. Lovell, ana W. Michigan Sts. (0>/27/83)

MICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, Brown, Isaac, House (Kalamazoo MRA), 427 5. burdick St.
(05/27/83)
MICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, Engine House No. 3 (Kalamazoo M KA), U7 Unariotte
Ave. (05/27/83)
MICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, Gibbs, John, House (Kalamazoo M KA), 3403 Parkview
Ave. (05/27/83)
MICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, Gilbert, Henry, House (Kalamazoo MRA), 415 W. Loveil
St. (05/27/83)
MICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, Hay market Historic District (Kaiamazoo 4 RA), Michigan
Ave. between Portage St. and Grand Rapids & Indiana R R (05/27/83)

MIiCHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, Illinois knvelope Co. Building (Kalzmazoo M KA4J, 40U
Bryant St. (05/27/83)
MICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, Lawrence and Chapin Building (Kalamazoo M x4j, 201 N.
Rose 5t. (05/27/83)
MICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, Mmarlborough, 471 W. South St. (05/27/83)

MICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kaiamazoo, Montague, Henry, House (Kalamazoo mKA), 314 VUakland
Dr. (05/27/83)
(Ml(/l HI/G A)N, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, Uakiands (Kaiamazoo MKA), 1815 W. Micnigan Ave.
05/27/83
MICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, 0ld Fire House No. 4 (Kalamazoo mxA), 52b N. puraick
St. (05/27/83)
MICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, Prentice, Alonzo ., House (Kalamazoo M KA), 539 W.

¥ ovell St. (05/27/83)




MICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, Roberts, Martin W., House (Kalamazoo MRA), 703
mdil heaton Avmmr—l .
" AICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, Rose Place Historic District (Kalamazoo mR4), Rose PL,
(05/27/83)
MICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, Shaffer, knoch, House (Kalamazoo MRA), 1437 Dougias
Ave. (05/27/83)
MICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, State Hospital Gatehouse (Kalamazoo M RA), 1006
Oakland Dr. {05/27/83)
MICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, Stevens, Andrew J., house (Kalamazoo MRA), 4024
Oakland Dr. (05/27/83)
MICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, Stuart Neighborhood/tienderson Park Historic Listrict
(Kalamazoo MRA), Roughly bounded by Michigan Central RR, Douglas, Forbes, W. Main, North, 5im
Sts., Kalamazoo and Grand Aves. (05/27/83)
MICHIGAN, Kalamazoo County, Kalamazoo, Welsh, Wiillam L., 'lerrace (Kalamazoo mKra), 101—105
W. Dutton St. (05/27/83)

MISSOURI, Greene County, Springfieild, Com merciai Street historic Uistrict, Lom merciai St.
(05/24/83)

NEBRASKA, Franklin County, sloomington vicinity, Lost Ureek Archeoiogical Site, (US/26/83)

Multiple Resource Areas are identified by MK A
The matic Resources are identified by 1R



STATE OF VERMONT

AGENCY OF DEVELOPMENT AND COMMUNITY AFFAIRS

MONTPELIER, VERMONT 05602 DEPARTMENTS OF:
Econumic Development 828 3221
Housing & Conmunity Affairs 828-32,

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY (802) 828-3211
DIVISIONS OF:

MILTON A. EATON, SECRETARY Administration 828-3231

Historic Prescrvation 828-3226
) Vermont Trave! Division $28-3236
June 23, 1983 Vermont Life Magazine 828-3241

Bernard Sanders, Mayor :
City of Burlington

City Hall

Burlington, VT 05401

Dear Mr. Sanders:

On January 12, 1983, the Division sent you a letter notifying you that the
City Hall Park Historic District was being considered for nominaticn to the
National Register of Historic Places. We are pleased to inform you that
the City Hall Park Historic District has now been officially entered on the
National Register.

If you desire further information regarding this nomination, please feel
free to contact us. ‘

Sincerely,
DIVISTON FOR HISTORIC PRESERVATION

Eric Gilbertson
Director/Deputy State
Historic Preservation Officer

EG/kag
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STATE OF VERMONT

AGENCY OF DEVELOPMENT AND COMMUNITY AFEAIRS

MONTPELIER, VERMONT 05602

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY (802) 828-3211

MILTON A. EATON, SECRETARY

June 23, 1983

Arthur R. Hogan, .Jr.
Executive Director
Chittenden County Regional Planning Commission
P.0. Box 108
Essex Junction, VT 05452
ot
Dear Me—tlogan:

DEPARTMENTS OF:
Econemic Dev lopment B28-322)
Housing & Convmunity Aflans 828-321°

DIVisic NS OF:
Adnostration ¢28-3231
H.storic Prescrvation §28-02:6
Vermont Trave! Division 828-3236
Vermont Life Magazine 8258-3241

On January 12, 1983, the Division sent you a letter notifying you that tiw

City Hall Park Historic District was being considered for nomination to the
National Register of Historic Places. We are pleased to inform you that

the City Hall Park Historic District has now been officially entered on the

National Register.

if you desire further information regarding this nomination, please feel

free to contact us.

Sincerely,

DIVISION FOR HISTORIC PRESERVATION
h)

Gon

Eric Gilbertson
Director/Deputy State
Historic Preservation Qfficer

EG/kag




STATE OF VERMONT

AGENCY OF DEVELOPMENT AND COMMUNITY AFFAIRS

MONTPELIER, VERMONT 05602 : DEPARTMENTS OF:
Economic Development 828-3221
Housing & Community Affairs 828-3217
OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY (802) 828-3211
DIVISIONS OF:
Administration 828-3231
’ Historic Preservation §28-3226
- Vermont Travel Division 828-3236
Aprl 1 18 , 1983 Vermont Life Magazine 828-3241

MILTON A. EATON, SECRETARY

Carol D, Shull, Chief of Registration
National Register of Historic Places
National Park Service

Department of the Interior
Washington, D.C. 20240

Pear Ms. Shull:

Enclosed please find the National Register nomination form for the
following:

City Hall Park Historic District
Burlington, Chittenden County, Vermont

This property is being submitted under the Historic Preservation
Act of 1966, as amended in 1980, for inclusion in the National
Register of Historic Places.

One comment letter, a notarized letter of objection, was received
concerning the nomination. The letter questioned whether one pro-
perty (#6 in the district) owned by the writer was at least 50
years old. Subsequent research by the objecting party confirmed
that the building was constructed c¢.1865, as stated in the nomina-
tion, and we received a second letter to that effect. Copies of
both letters are enclosed. The Division has since communicated
with the property owner to clarify the status of the party's objec-
tion, They still wish their objection to be entered in the record.

I have determined that less than a majority of the district property
owners have objected to the nomination and recommend that the dis-
trict be entered in the National Register,

Sincerely,

DIVISION FOR HISFOBRIC PRESERVATION

v -
AL

Eric Gilbertson
Director/Deputy State Historic
Preservation Officer

Enclosures

~



STATE OF VERMONT

AGENCY OF DEVELOPMENT AND COMMUNITY AFFAIRS

MONTPELIER, VERMONT 05602

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY (802) 828-3211

MILTON A. EATON, SECRETARY

April 18, 1983

Mayor Bernard Sanders
City of Burlington
Burlington, Vermont 05401

DEPARTMENTS OF:

Economic Development 828-3221
Housing & Community Affairs 828-3217

DIVISIONS OF:
Administration 828-3231
Historic Preservation 828-3226
Vermont Travel Division 828-3236
Vermont Life Magazine 828-3241

Re: City Hall Park Historic District, Burlington

Dear Mayor Sanders:

We are pleased to inform you that the City Hall Park Historic Dis-
trict nomination has been submitted to the National Park Service
for consideration for entry in the National Register of Historic
Places. Notification of acceptance or rejection of the district

will follow,

Please feel free to contact us if any further information is desired.

Sincerely,
DIVISION FOR HISTQRIC PRESERVATION
Eric Gilbertson

Director/Deputy State Historic
Preservation Officer

EG/cjd

cc Arthur Hogan, Executive Director
Chittenden County Regional Planmning Commission




STATE OF VERMONT

AGENCY OF DEVELOPMENT AND COMMUNITY AFFAIRS

MONTPELIER, VERMONT 05602

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY (802) 828-3211

MILTON A. EATON, SECRETARY

April 18, 1983

Ms. Andrea Rogers

Director of the Capital Fund
Flynn Theater

153 Main Street

Burlington, Vermont 05401

DEPARTMENTS GF:

Economic Development 828-3221
Housing & Community Affairs 828-3217

DIVISIONS OF:
Administration 828-3231
Historic Preservation 828-3226
Vermont Travel Division 828-3236
Vermont Life Magazine 828-3241

Re: City Hall Park Historic District, Burlington

Dear Ms. Rogers:

We are pleased to inform you that the City Hall Park Historic Dis-
trict nomination has been submitted to the National Park Service
for consideration for entry in the National Register of Historic
Places. Notification of acceptance or rejection of the district

will follow.

Please feel free to contact us if any further information is desired.

Sincerely,

DIVISION FOR HISTORIC PRESERVATION

Eric Gilbertson
Director/Deputy State Historic
Preservation Officer

EG/cjd




NES Form 1080 G
Exp. 10-21- 34

United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service For NPS use only

Natlonal Register of Historic Places received
Inventory—-—Nommatlon Form date entered
-~ -See instructions in How to Complete National Register Farms
Type all entries—complete applicable sections Co e
1. Name :
historic Court House Square
and/or common Ci ty l{all Park Illstorlc D1 trict (prefecrred)
2. Location
street & number Church, Coliege, Main and St, Paul Streets N/A not for publication
city, town Burlington N/A vicinity of
state Vermotnt code OO county Chittenden - R 'é@éé' 007-
3. Classification
Category Ownership S;atus Present Use
__A district —— public _X__ accupied —— agricuiture —_— museum
___building(s) ____ private ___ unoccupied _X__ commercial _X_ park
_ . structure X_both —__ work in progress _X _educational ___ private residence
____site Public Acquisition Accessibie _X __ entertainment - religious
— object N/A (_in process —_—_yes:restricted X _ government —— scientific
{___ being considered X yes: unrestricted — industrial —— transportation
—_no — military _X_ other: apartments
4. Owner of Property R
name See Continuation Sheet - v
sti'eet & number
city, town —— vicinity of state

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc.

Office of the City Clerk, City Hall

street & number

Church Street

city, town

Burlington

state Vermont

6. Representation in Existing Surveys = -~

Vermont Historic Sites and

title Stryuctures Survey

has this property been determined eligible? ___ yes L no

“ date_1977-1979

—_ federat _X_state —_county ___ local

depository for survey recordsVermont Division for Historic Preservation

city, town Montpelier

state Vermont




NES Form WA a

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

~Inventory—Nomination Form

e
Eap. 10-31- 3¢

4 Page 1

~” Continuation sheet 1 Item number
1. Merchants National Bank 12. Perei-Bloom Associates
164 College Street 129 Main Street
Burlington, Vermont 05401 Burlington, Vermont 05401
2. Merchants Properties, Inc. 13, William and Alice O'Brien
123 Church Street 56 Wildwood Drive
Burlington, Vermont 05401 Burlington, Vermont 05401
{(135-137, 143-145)5 Main Street)
Burlington Savings Bank )
148 College Street Lawrence L, Rozzi
Burlington, Vermont 05401 54 Brewer Parkway
South Burlington, Vermont 05401
3. Burlington Savings Bank (139-141 Main Street)
148 College Street
Burlington, Vermont 05401 14, Flynn Theatre for the Performing Arts
153 Main Street
4., Buriington Savings Bank Burlington, Vermont (5401
148 College Street o
Burlington, Vermont 05401 15. Phillip S. and Mary S. George
4 P.0, Box 853
5. Burlington Savings Bank Rutland, Vermont 05702
148 College Street .
Burlington, Vermont 05401 16. Phillip S. and Mary S, George
P.0O, Box 853
6. Burlington Savings Bank Rutland, Vermont 05702
148 College Street )
Burlington, Vermont 05401 17. John R, Hill
167 Main Street
7. City of Burlington Burlington, Vermont 05401
c/o City Clerk
City Hall 18, David B, and Louise K, Dubrul
Burlington, Vermont 05401 500 Pine Street
Burlington, Vermont (540}
8. Merchants Properties, Inc,
123 Church Street 19, David B, and Louise K. Dubrul
Burlington, Vermont 05401 500 Pine Street
Burlington, Vermomt 05401
9, Merchants Properties, Inc.
123 Church Street 20, David B, and Louise K. Dubrul
Burlington, Vermont 05401 500 Pine Street
Burlington, Vermont 05401
10. City of Burlington
c/o City Clerk 21, David B. and Louise K, Dubrul
City Hall 500 Pine Street
~ Burlington, Vermont 05401 Burlington, Vermont 05401
11, City of Burlington 22, John J, Flynn Estate

c/o City Clerk
City Hall
Burlington, Vermont 05401

P,0, Box 1025 :
Burlingten, Vermont 05402




NPS £ orm 10-800-a OMB No. 1, 3-0018
03-82) Exp. 10-31-84

United Stétes Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
- Inventory—Nomination Form

~~ Continuation sheet 2 item number 4

23, Lionel Fleischer
Wilson Hotel
189 Church Street
Burlington, Vermont 05401

24, Lionel Fleischer
Wilson Hotel
189 Church Street
Burlington, Vermont 05401




7. Description

Condition Check one Check one

X excellent _—_ deteriorated ____ unailtered X__ original site

X good ____ruins X__ altered — _moved date
~—— tair — unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

-

The city of Burlington is situated on a height of land overlooking a broad bay on Lake
Champlain, one of America's largest freshwater lakes. The City Hall Park Historic Dis-
trict occupies a level piece of land approximately halfway between the waterfront and
the top of the hill. Comprised of two dozen buildings set around three sides of a
square park and down one block of an adjoining street, it is the nucleus of a twenty
square block central business district which serves a surrounding metropolitan area of
more than 100,000 people., The primarily 2-1/2 to 3-1/2 story brick and usually contigu-
ous buildings of the district date from the early 19th through early 20th centuries and
range in style from the Federal to Neo-Classical with a number of outstanding Victorian
era structures,

The buildings enclosing the west side of the park, along St. Paul Street, are not in the
district because they are already listed on the National Register of Historic Places as
part of the Wells Richardson Historic District. Adjoining to the south is the Battery
Street Historic District, a mixed commercial and residential neighborhood extending up

from the waterfront, To the east and north of the park lies Church Street, downtown
Burlington's busiest retail and commercial street. Atlhough it is historically an exten-
sion of City Hall Park, and possesses some outstanding 19th century architecture, it was
converted to an outdoor pedestrian mall in 1981, The consequent addition of steel and glass
-canopies to many of the buildings and the addition to a portion of the street of unifying
contemporary pedestrian landscaping elements now define it as a separate entity, the Church
Street Marketplace.

The center of the City Hall Park Historic District is the park itself, a full square city
block landscaped with a variety of shade and ornamental trees, a fountain and other land-
scape features. To the north, across College Street, and to the south, across Main Street,
the park is enclosed by continuous walls of three-story brick commercial facades, punctua-
ted in each case at the west end by large striking buildings. Along the eastern border of
the park sit four buildings with formal frontal orientation on Church Street, but with
fully articulated facades on the park as well. Extending to the south from the park, along
the west side of Church Street, is a row of mixed commercial and residential buildings,
including some of the oldest in the district,

The architecture within the district is extremely varied both in style and form., Although
facades are generally rectilinear, roof profiles range from flat to gabled to mansarded,
with such distinctive features as gable parapets, Flemish wall dormers, cupolas, towers and
even a roof garden, all in evidence., Styles include Federal and Greek Revival from the
early 19th century, as well as a broad range of Victorian commercial designs, including
Italianate, Romanesque, Georgian and Second Empire; excellent examples of the Moderne and
Neo-Classical movements of the 1920's are also represented.

Despite this great diversity of style, several common physical features serve to give the
district a large degree of visual cohesiveness, Foremost among these is the almost uniform
use of brick as a construction material, frequently with extensive stone trim and decora-
tive detail, The only exceptions are the marble-veneered Merchant's Bank (#9) and several
wood frame structures on lower Church Street, A second factor is. the compactness of spac-
ing and the relative uniformity of height of the buildings which border the park, Includ-
ing the portion of the adjacent Wells-Richardson Historic District on St., Paul Street, the
¥ idest gap between any two of the score or more buildings enclosing the park is only a few

reet, and all but three or four of these buildings stand between 2-1/2 and 3-1/2 stories
tall,




NPS Form 10-900-¢
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United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

~. National Register of Historic Places -
- Inventory—Nomination Form

-~ Continuation sheet ftem number 7

Within the district there are three individual buildings which stand out

ag focal points, not only because they are the district‘'s three largest
structures, but also because of their visually strategic placement within
the parkscape. City Hall takes full advantage of its central location and
dual orientation on both the park and Church Street by presenting identical
elaborately-detailed facades to both. The Burlington Savings Bank,is &thigh
style Flemish Revival building with a prominent corner turret which empha-
sizes its corner location and provides a strong visual terminus to the
streetscape #long the north side of the park. The bright Art Deco mirquee
on the Flynn Theater is another of the district's distinctive architectursal
features.

The distriet has steadily evolved in appearance sinoe the 1790's, when the
town propriators first set the park aside as a public common and erected
the first county courthouse on the present site of City Hall. Known
throughout the last century as Court House Square, it attracted commercial
development from its earliest years, and was the core around which the
city's central business district ultimately grew. Although no pre-Civil
War commercial buildings survive in unaltered form, the park's general
character has changed little since the 1830's, when continuous walls of
three-gstory brick facades first enclosed it. # continual process of rede-
velopment, by which newer commercial biocks have gradually replaced older
ones, accounts for the present diversity of styles and age of the district’s
architecttire., The downtown darea has never experienced a major fire, Most
of the building facades in the district retain their original appearance
above the street level; unfortunately, most of the astorefronts are not
original,

Descriptions of individual bulldings are as follows:
1, Second Merchants Bank (164 College Street)

The complex organization of this old bank facade is typical of the late
Vietorian period. The exg#ensive granite trim is carved with sgtylized
curvilinear foliation, making this the only example of Sullivanesque
architecture in the city, and perhaps in the state. Similar massing and
decorative masonry facades give the building a close visual relationship
with #2, with which it shares a modern storefront of grey and brown granite.
It was built in 1895 to plans by Sydney Greene of Burlington, who also
supervised its construction.

The facade employs a variety of masonry materials with a generally hori-
zontal emphasis, The second story is faced with a carefully-worked veneer
of Barre granite which articulates a band of windows in a rectilinear frame

#~ of mullions, sills, transom bars, and lintels, enriched with denticulation
and side pilasters with “woven vine" motif caps. The third and fourth
stories are faced with tinted brick and framed by piers which rise through
the cornice to serve as imposts for a pedimented false front with stone

coping. Third story windows have carved foliate enrichment on the stone
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lintels, while five fourth story windows are banded together as one group,
with attached columns in between and & carved stone surround bordering

the entire opening. The tympanum of the pediment has a projecting foliate-
enriched stone basin with brick segmental arch above. The overall effect
is highly ornamental but retains a large degree of order and symmetry.

2, Burlington Trust Co. Building (162 College Street)

This narrow, four-story rectangular block has a facade of rock-faced local
redstone constructed in an unusual Romanesque Revival style. It was built
in 1891 for the Burlington Trust Company from plans by Clellan W. Fisher.

A similarity of massing, style, and a common storefront of polished granite
create a strong visual bond between this building and #1 to the east.

Fenestration is flat-headed on the second story, and round-haaded with
brownstone voussoirs on the third and fourth stories. Below the fourth
story is an unusual checkerboard pattern frieze of inlaid red and white
ashlars a similar patterned inlay enriches a small pediment over the fourth
gtory center bay window. The unusual cornice, constructed entirely of
stone, effectively simulates dentils and brackets,

3. Crispen Leather (160 College Street)

This plain brick structure appears to be 8 remnant of the old Bank Block
(¢.1860), once the most prominent edifice fronting on the north side of
the park. It is now two stories tall, two bays wide, with original peaked
cast iron lintels, modern storefront.

4, Burlington Savings Bank Nnnex (154 College Street)

A ¢.1972 three-story, brick-veneered structure; eight bays wide; street
level arcaded windows rise into corrugated concrete fascia; large segmental
arch opening to left is main Savings Bank entry. Non-contributing, although
it provides an important visual backdrop for the park.

5. Burlington Savings Bank (148 College Street)

The Savings Bank is one of the most academically sophisticated works of
architecture in Burlington., The style, termed Flemish Revival by the
architect, uses a brick and brownstone facade with prominent wall dormers
and a corner turret to recall the Renaissance guild houses of Brussels
and Antwerp. It occupies a strategic corner location on the park.

The essentially rectangular plan has 3xl172-3tory facades on both College
*™ and St. Paul Streets. A prominent corner entrance tower rises to a spire-
: like conical cap with an iron finial, providing a pronounced exclamation

point for the streetscape which encloses the park on the north. Mounted

og the tower are a carved cartouche inseribed "1900" and a time/temperature

clock,
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Wall surfaces are deep red "richified” brick, with brownstone used for
window surrounds, string coursing, street level fascia, and other trim.
The roof is flat on top, but steeply pitched over the main facades in a
mansard fashion. A molded stone cornice is broken once on the south side
and twice on the west side by laéarge Flemish wall dormers, each with stone
coping and a round~-headed window, The south dormer also h#s an ornate
carved apex stone.

Mrcaded ground floor fenestration has freestanding Roman Ionic columns and
large consoles in the keystone positions. Except for third story sarcading

on the west facade, all upper level fenestration is flat-headed, and
articulated by quoined brownstone surrounds. The recessed corner entrance

is framed by free-standing Ionic columns which support a brownstone segmental
arch. # College Street side entrance, no longer functional, has a pediment
on consoles overhead. The interior features a large horseshoe-shaped
"general counting room*” and extensive mahogony panelling throughout.

6, St. Paul Street Annex (86 St. Paul Street)

This large three-story brick block is twelve bays wide and adjoins the
Savings Bank (#5) at its south end. The cornice is plainly corbelled with
projecting header and stretcher courses. Evenly spaced windows have
granite lintels and sills, one-over-one sash, plate glass on the first
gtory. Granite foundation and water table; modern projecting steel and
glass entry to left. #lthough plain in style, the substantial facade
effectively extends the scale of the City Hall Park streetscape up St, Paul
Street. The building was built c.1865 for an unknown industrial use. The
two-story, 4-bay, brick-veneered north wing, acded c¢.1960, has a drive-
through portal on the ground floor. The main block contributes to the
historic character of the district; the wing lies within the distriet but

is non-contributing.

7. City Hall Park.

City Hall Park, known in the nineteenth century as Court House Square, is

a square-shaped public common bounded on three sides by cohesive commercial
streetscapes on College, St. Paul and Main Streets. The fourth (eastern)
side is occupied by three large public buildings (#9-11), each of which

has a fully developed facade on the park side, despite formal frontal
orientation on Church Street., The park is the only large open space in
the dewntown area,

The foeal point of landscaping completed in 1979 is a poured concrete
fountain in the center of the park; sidewalks which radiate from this

hub are lighted by ornate cast iron lamp posts with large double globes,
Other significant structural features are two granite monuments, In the
northwest corner is a 12' obelisk topped by a carved eagle., It was erected
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in 1907 as a memorial to Civil War dead. Lower panels of each face have
carvings of martial artifacts enclosed in wreathss upper panels have
inscriptions. In front of City Hall is & plain 8' rectangular shaft
erected by the Gold Star Mothers after World War II, "in memory of the
boys who make the sacrifice.”

8. Mchuliffe Building (117 Church Street)

The first floor of the McAuliffe Building is the only remnant of the

YMCA Block, a mammoth Romanesque Revival edifice of rock-faced brownstone
which burned in 1928, The recessed corner entrance is framed by squat
columns which support a lintel inscribed "MedAuliffe, 1912-28," with

*S. Huntington, 1837+1888" above it. Large display windows have stained
glass transoms reading "stationary," "books," and "toys."

After the fire, the Mchuliffe Paper Company (a lineal descendant of the
Huntington Bookstore which had done business on this corner since 1837)
decided to rebuild the block on a smaller scale, The present Art Moderne
style facade of beige-tinted bricks is three stories tall, two by three
bays, with an angled corner entrance bay. Plers define the large windows
with frosted glass transoms into bays; spandrel panels of patterned brick-
work are between stories. Over the cornice is a stepped parapet embellished
with a soldier string course and diamond-~motif brick and concrete panels
over each bay. An important corner building.

9, Merchants Bank (123 Church Street)

Becauge it replaced (in 1931) the destoyed portion of the old YMCA Block

(see #8), this building has an unusual plan which wraps around the MchAuliffe
Building to front on Church Street, College Street and City Hall Park,

The two-story polished marble facade with carved marble trim is ane of
Burlington's better examples of the Neo-classical style which was popular

in the 1920's and into the early years of the Great Depression. The
architects were Harper and Wests the original occupant was the Chittenden
County Trust Company.

The main facade, fronting on Church Street, is dominated by a tall, round-
arched entrance with carved surround, eagles in relief on top, and flanking
pastoral-motif round medallions, & denticulated cornice with architrave
and frieze inscribed “Chittenden County Trust Company" 1is capped by a
patapet with shield-motif ornament., # flanking south wing and the park

and College Street facades are in matching style, but with lower rooflines,
plain cornices and parapets, and a lesser degree of classical ornament.

A Church Street storefront has been altered so that only a palmette-enriched
stamped metal cornice remains. Secondary entries have pedimented and
denticulated cornice caps. The park facade has & pavil ion-like center
section with a round arch similar to the main entrance arch.
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10. Ethan Allen Engine Company #% (135 Church Street)

A Nineteenth Century Commercial style fire station, listed on the National
Register of Historic Places on December 17, 1570,

11. City Hall

Because of its great mass and highly central location, City Hall is perhaps
the most visually strategic component in the distriet. The brick facade
with extensive carved marble trim is Neo-classical in style, @although

the strict symmetry and multi-stage domed cupola impart definite Georgian
overtones., This classieal/colonial motif was intended by the architect,
W.M. Kendall of McKim, Mead, and White, to be "in accordance with the same
classical principles which inspired the public buildings of the colonies
and the early republic.”

Virtually all the finish materials - brick, marble, roofing slate, and

granite - were produced in Vermont. Whgn the building was constructed in

1928 at a cost of $475,000, it was hailed by Mayor Beecher as “the most
ambitious building project on which the city of Burlington has ever embarked,”
When the mayor pushed through a new fire statiom and civic auditorium the
next year, his critics dubbed him “"Beecher the Builder" and spread rumors

of graft. The previous City Hall,,built on this site in 1854, had grown
decrepit with age, and was, in the words of the Free Press editor, "a
repellent municipal liability."”

The rectangular plan has virtual dual orientation, displaying identical
eleven-bay, two-story facades on both Church Street and the park. Bays

are defined by fluted pilasters with Corinthian caps, and twelve-over-
twelve sash with gauged brick flat arches., Quoins, a denticulated cornice
with carved architrave, and spandrel panele add further surface enrichment.
The round-arched central entrances have panelled doors with tracery fan-
lights and surrounds of fluted Iconic pllasters supporting swan-neck pedi-
ments. Cupola enrichment includes clocks, balustrades with urns, c¢olumns
and arches in & Palladian motif, and a gilded dome embellished with swag,

12. Hotel Vermont (129-133 Main Street)

The old Hotel Vermont, at seven stories the tallest bullding in the
district, is @ dominant presence in the streetscape surrounding City
Hall Park. The style is Colonial Revival, characterized by a symmetri-~
cally orgamiiaé-brick facade with central pavilion, quoins, and neo-
classical trim executed mostly in marble. H denticulated pressed metal
gornice with brick patdpet highlights the roofline. & glazed roof garden
and wrought iron seventﬁ story balconies take advantage of the building’s
height and provide views of the lake and the park.
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Fenestration is three by seven bays, regularly spaced; windows are all
paired except on the central pavillion, vhere they are three-part and
flanked by s8lit windows. Most sills and lintels are marble., The modern
central entriance retains original granite Doric columns with marble bases
and capitals; overhead is an iron balcony served by French doors with a
segmental arch marble cornice, The entire first story is banded between

a marble string course and water table, In the rear, fronting on St. Paul
Street, is a three-story service wing with stone-capped battlement.

The Hotel Vermont was the last of the great hotels which ' once dominated
life around City Hall Park, It replaced the burned-out main block of

the o0ld American House in 1910. For may years it wias considered the finest
non-regsort hotel in the state. Converted to apartments and offices in 1970.

13, East Wing of American House (135-143 Main Street)

This brick block was originally the edst wing of the fimerican House, a
landmark which burned in 1906, to be replaced four years later by the
Hotel Vermont (#12). # Federal style parapetted gable is now the only
stylistic clue to its ¢,1830 origins. In the early twentieth century

the roofline was raised toaccommodate @ full third story; the present
windows and corbelled cornice with cyma recta wood molding date from then.
Modern storefronts, one faced with carrara glass., Desgpite alterations

to the facade, the block plays an intergral part in the City Hall street-
secape by spanning the wide gap between the Hotel Vermont and the Flynn
Theater.

14, Flynn Theater (149-153 Main Street)

fccording to at least one authority, the Flynn is the finest Art Deco
moviehouse in the state. #s the last remaining theater in downtown
Burlington, it testifies to the enduring role which film has played in
Mmerican culture, particularly in the pre-television years of the depression,
when Hollywood enjoyed its "golden age.” It was buillt in 1930 for John J.
Flynn, a local lawyer, banker, and real estute developer. The architects
were Newell and Rand of Boston., A total restoration, including new facili-
ties for the performing arts, is nearing completion at the time of this
writing.

The building consists of two #djoining structures. On Main Street is
two-story, four part block which houses the threater entrance and foyer
to the left, two shopfronts and & walk-up entry to the right, and offices
upstairs., In the rear is a tall, rectangular structure which houses the
1800-seat theater. # short, one-story passuagewdy links ine %wo.
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The facade's most prominent feature is the cantilevered marquee, which

has "Flynn" in red neon letters on all three sides, with borders of flashing
red and yellow lights. Wall surfacesare brick and carved marble; fluted
pilasters with foliate scroll-motif caps define the bays, while the upper
levels are infilled with patterned brick and one-over-one windowg. The
thenter entrance bay has three sets of double oak doors opening-tn.a
panelled ticket booth, and a stepped parapet on the roof with the name
“Flynn" incised in stylized lettering. The largely intact Art Deco interior
decor features stylized lighting fixtures, mosaic tile floor, and fluted
pilasters.

15, Commercial Block (155-159 Main Street)

This three~story brick building is & subdued example of the Italianate
commercial block which achieved popularity in Burlington after the Civil
War, The only noteworthy stylistic feature is the projecting box cornice
supported by puired consoles mounted on a plain wood frieze with archi-
trave, The westerly storefront, although very plain, has typical nineteenth
century construction, and may be original. The building maintains the

scale and building line of the streetscape fronting on City Hall Park,

16, AMll-American Hero (161-163 Main Street)

A small, two-story brick structure with modern storefront and second-
story windows. 01d photographs show the original roof had a front gable
with fan louvre, in the Federal style. Non-contributing in present form.

17, Times Building (167 Main Street)

This building testifies to the possibilities for adaptive reuse of down-
town property. When built in 1845 as Burlington's first Baptist churenh,
it haé a Greek Revival style pedimented front gable surmounted by an open
belfry. Of its original style, only brick pilasters and a frieze with
architrave remain. In 1866, the Baptists built a larger church in a
quieter location on St. Paul Street., The Burlington Times purchased the
old church, removed the belfry, remodeled the interior, and moved its
printing presses and publishing offices inside. Sometime in:the 1870's
the Times added the slate-clad mansard roof to provide a functional third
floor. The roof has a band of fishscale slates, gabled wall dormers, &nd
paired brackets under the upper cornice. Sash is six-over-one, mostly
paired. Modern storefront, with carrara glass paneling and semi-octagonal metal
framed plate glass windows.
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18, Stacy Livery Stable (159-163 Church Street)

0.C. Stacy erected this building c.1877 as a livery stable to serve the
large hotels around Court House Square. Mn adjoining structure in the
rear, now extensively altered, was the carriage house, In the 1920's,
stucco and molded wood round-arched window heads were applied to the
original facade, a "boomtown" type shaped false front with bracketed
wood cornice which obscures the low gabled roof. Modern stonaefronty

19, Stacy House (165-167 Church Street)

The Stacy House is one of the few residential building types in the
district. It is a clapboard-sided, 2i-story balloon frame with fishscale
shingles covering the pedimented front gable. Central chimney, one~ever-
one sash, imbricated roof slates, It was built ¢.1885 as the home of
0.C, Stacy, proprietor of the livery stable next door (#18).

20, Fresh Ground Coffee House (175 Church Street)

» modern, two-story commercial block with shingle and brick-veneered
facade, Non-contributing.

21, Charlie's Red Hots (177 Church Street)

A narrow, two-story, infilli-type commercial building with & well-preserved
¢.1875 Italianate style clapboard facade. # molded box cornice is

supported by paired brackets with pendants. Two-over-two sash have peaked
headboards, Modern storefront and illuminated overhanging sign, both c.1955.

22, Asahel Peck House (179-181 Church Street)

The Peck House, along with the Mills House {#24), is one of two early
nineteenth century houses left in the district. It was builf c.1835 by
AMsahel Peck, a prominent lawyer who later rose to become chief justice

of the state supreme court. Despite modern windows, entry, and a stucco
facade, all dating from the 1920°'s, the broad gabled front withwzssuras,
central chimney, and other remnant detail identify it as a transitional
Federal/Greek Revival period building. Its tall, 23-story massing renders
a degree of scale to the surrounding streetscape.

23, Wilson Block €183-185 Church Street)

The Wilson Block is a substantial three-story commercial block with a
~~ Classical Revival style facade, Corner piers support an elaborate stamped
. metal cornice with a floral motif and egg-and-dart frieze, architrave
molding. Windows have stone sills and bonded brick flat arch lintels,
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The original three-bay storefront has & recessed entrance bay to the right,
glazed transom course, plain metal cornice. Graham Wilson, who lived next
door in the adjoining Mills House (#24), erected the blecck in 1910 to
house a ligquor store.

24, Mills House (187-89 Church Street)

The Mills House is one of the few purely residential structures in the
district, and by far the aldest and best-preserved., It was built ¢,1820
by Thomas and Ephraim Mills, two brothers who published Burlington's
first newspaper, the Northern Sentinel, out of a low, clapboard block on
the south side of Court House Square called Mills Row. Like all news-
papers of the day, the Sentinel was highly partjsan in its politics,
supporting Democratic causes from Jefferson to Jackson, and receiving
postmasterships and other patronage in return., The editors® house was
undoubtedly the site of many partisan political meetings and socdal events.

The building plan is the 2%-story, five-by-two bay, double pile house
type commonly used from the mid-eighteenth to mid-nineteenth centuries,
and particularly popular during the F¥deral period, The original central
entrance, with sidelights, pilasters and a delicate leaded fanlight, now
looks out from the second story, the curtéts result of the regrading of
Church Street in the 1880°'s, The south gable has a molded cornice with
gable returns and a lunette framed by paired end chimneys. In the rear
is a two-story c.1885 addition with a south elevation Italianate style
oriel window supported by large decorative scroll-cut brackets. Other
alterations include an east elevation ground level porch with iron posts,
serving the present functional entry, an iron fire escape, and a8 southeast
corner neon sign reading "Hotel Wilson." Construction is bonded brick.




8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below
___ prehistoric _____ archeology-prehistoric ___. community planning __ landscape architecture_____ religion
—_1400-1499 ____ archeology-historic —__. conservation — law ‘ — . science
—_1500-1589 ___ agriculture ____economics _. literature — . sculpture
—_1600-1699 _X_ architecture ____education —__ military ___ social/
—1700-1799 __art . engineering —— music : humanitarian
X_1800-1899 _X_commerce — exploration/settiement ___ philosophy X theater
_X_1900- —___ communications —___industry _X_ politics/government __ transportation
——_invention —___ other {specity)
Specific dates N/A Builder/Architect N/A

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

The City Hall Park Historic District is significant as a well preserved collection of
stylistically varied early 19th to early 20th century commercial structures unified
through spacing and orientation around an open park into a cohesive historic urban dis-
trict. Burlington's long role as a commercial center, dating back to the 18th century,
can be seen in the great diversity of the district's architecture. From a ¢.1820 Federal
style residence, built by the publishers of Burlington's first newspaper, to an outstand-
ing 1930 Art Deco moviehouse, the buildings bordering City Hall Park tell the story of
the city's growth from a frontier lakeport to a lumber manufacturing boomtown to a modern
city which stands foremost as Vermont's industrial, commercial and educational center.

In the 1790's the proprietors of the frontier town of Burlington set aside a public com-
mon as the site of the new county courthouse., At the time, there were already two esta-
blished settlements in town, one at the lake and the other around the "College Green" at
the top of the hill upon which Burlington is built. The proprietors' choice of a level
piece of land halfway up the hill, then occupied only by lumbermen's shanties, probably
represented a political compromise between the landowners of the two established settle-
ments, either of which would have profited considerably from the business a courthouse
attracted.

The new public common was called Court House Square, a name it retained until the 1880's.
Around it grew a thriving community of innkeepers, lawyers, printers, merchants, and other
tradesmen. This period in Burlington's history, from 1785-1823, typified the trans-
Appalachian expansion of the American frontier during the early national period, and esta-
blished the young village as the trade center for the surrounding agricultural economy,

Despite its initial success, Court House Square was the smallest of Burlington's three
settlements for many years. At the waterfront, the nascent lakeport known as "The Bay"
bustled with activity, as shipbuilders, teamsters, merchants, bakers, and brewers cashed
in on the relative ease of water transportation in an otherwise forest-bound frontier eco-
nomy. At the top of the hill, on upper Pearl Street and around the College Green, was a
larger settlement of perhaps sixty houses, many of them substantial brick structures built
by merchants engaged in a prosperous retail and wholesale trade. Over the course of
three or four decades, the three settlements gradually expanded and met, so that by mid-
century there was a single village of Burlington which extended from the lake to the top
of the hill,

A major shift in Burlington's economic fortunes occurred in 1823, when the Champlain Canal
opened and connected the lake to the Hudson River, Erie Canal, and points south and west.

Thus began the ''golden age' of shipping on Lake Champlain, when the fastest stéamboats in
the world raced passengers
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and goods from New York to Quebec. This period, from 1823-1850, paralleled
the growth of a national mercantile economy which exploited waterways,
canals, turnpikes and world sea-trading routes to move consumer goods to
the hinterland and agricultural produce to burgeoning urban areas. With
access to New York and western markets, Burlington merchants established
the village as the busiest port on the lake, and cornered the wholesale
and forwarding trade for moat of northern Vermont. The waterfront boomed,
and the various mercantile houses erected wharves, a breakwater, and
substantial stores to handle their expanding trade. Much of this growth
was at the expense of the old Pearl Street merchants on the hill, who
either moved to the waterfront or went out of business.

Court House Square also prospered during the mercantile boom. From a large
brick block on the north side of the square, the family of Dr. John Peck
operated the largest wholesaling and forwarding house in the state. Their
great "land-ships," hauled by eight and ten-horse teams, rumbled as far east
48 St. Johnsbury to supply storekeepers #and return with the produce of the
interior. Burlington became & major transportation center, where stagelines
from the north, east, &and south converged to meet the village's steamboat
fleet. This traffic spurred the construction of numerous hotels at Court
House Square, the last of which was the Hotel Vermont (#12), erected in 1910,
These “palaces of the people” served not only large numbers of travellers,
but also provided semi-permanent homes for itinerent tradesmen, salesmen,
and "gentlemen of leisure." Public meetings, private gatherings, and much
of the community's day-to-day social intercourse occurred in the public
rooms of the Howard House, the American House (of which #13 is a remnant),
Thomas's Tavern and the opulent Van Ness House.

By the 1840°'s, continuous walls of brick and clapboard commercial facades
had enclosed the square and were beginning to spread out to surrounding
streets; many of these buildings sported the parapetted gables with end
chimneys which typified the Federal style in Burlington. Tradition states
that Jacksonite Democrats patronized only businesses on the south side of
the square, while Whig partisans could only be seen on the north side,
where a branch of the controversial U.S. Bank stoed. The courthouse, a
clapboard structure with a monumental portico, stood facing the square on
the present site of City Hall (#11)., On the hillside above the square,
the atylish homes of the merchant class commanded vistas of the lake and
Adirondack Mountains,

Few of the buildings erected around Court House Square during this period
survive, and none retain their original appearance. Perhaps the most
significant early nineteenth century structure in the district is the
Mills House (#24) on the corner of Church and King Streets. This Federal
style residence features a finely-detailed fanlight entrance and much
other original detail, although the entrance now locks out from the second
story as a result of the regrading of the street. The house was built
c.,1820 by two brothers who published Burlington's first newspaper from a
low wooden commercial block on Court House Square,
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Other significant pre-Civil War dbuildings include the east wing of the old
Mmerican House, built in 1830 and still displaying a Federal style parapeted
gable with paired chimneys despite a major facade alteration c¢.1910; the
Times Building (#17), a Greek Revival church build in 1845 and converted

in the 1870's to an office building with a mansard roof; the isahel Peck
House (#20) is a large c.1835 residence with Federal and Greek Revival
detail, but with a substantially altered facade; and two small brick
commercial blocks (#3 & 16}, both substantially altered framtheir original
appearance,

The prosperous mercantile economy virtually collapsed in 1850, As abruptly
as the opening of the canal had put Burlington in a geographic middleman
position, the coming of the railroad took away those markets by putting

the village at the end of the supply line from Boston. # national depression
and the closing of Burlington's only factory, & glassworks, compounded the
problem. The waterfront was particularly hard hit, and all but died as #u
commercial distriet., There was widespread bankruptcy, panic, and general
despair about the village's future, By 1860, though, local capitalists had
rewarked the 0ld middleman trade with a new twist, and Burlington's fortunes
rose, phoenix-like, to unprecendented levels of prosperity.

The new scheme was to import raw timber from the Ontario peninsula and tow
it in rafts down the St. Lawrence and then up the lake to Burlington, where
steam-powered planing mills turned it into dressed lumber, doors, window
sash, cottage furniture and other basic wood products. The finished goods
were then shipped by rail to Boston and other metropolitan areas., The volume
of lumber manufactured in Burlington grew annually, interrupted only by the
severe depression of 1873-78, until in 1883 it was the third largest port

of entry for lumber in the country, behind Albany and Portland. The water-
front became a sea of stacked lumber which stretched out over nearly a mile.
Great fortunes were amassed in this trade, which worked largely by the labor
of thousands of French-Canadian immigrants.

The lumber boom had tremendous impact on Court House Square. The increased
demand for retail business resulted in many large new commercial blocks,
not only at the square, but all along the adjoining streets. Church Street
became a favorite location for new development, and soon rivaled the square
for the size and quality of its bulldings. The universal style for new
commercial buildings in this periocd was a vernacular variation of the Itali-
anate Revival, characterized chiefly by rectangular brick facades with
elaborate bracketed cornices and the extensive use of cast iron window and
storefront treatments, Although many such buildings survive in the downtown
/~. area, only the commercial block at 155-159 Main Street (#15), a very subdued
example of the style, remains in unaltered condition within the district.
Stacy's Livery Stable (#18) and Charlie's Red Hots (#21) are excellent
examples of vernacular adaptations of the style to smaller clapboard facades,
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The lumber trade peaked in the 1880's and died in the 1890's when lumber
tariffs changed., By then, though, enocugh wealth had acecumulated in Bur-
lington to diversify the industrial base, so that refrigerators, patent
medicines, textiles, brush fibers, and pottery replaced lumber as the

chief manufacturing products. Capitalists like Willjam Van Patten, Urban
Woodbury, Joel Gates and C.R., Hayward were highly individualistic entre-
preneurs who reaped great profits from one main business (usually lumber)
and then reinvested in a broad range of new ventures, especially real estate
and manufacturing. #t the turn of the century, Burlington had more than
doubled its population since the Civil War, and the downtown had expanded
accordingly. It became the major center in the state for banking, insurance
and general commerce,

If the Italianate period gave the historic district its basic form, it was
the years 1885-1910 which gave it its most vibrant stylistic themes. The
buildings erected in those years typify the Victorian pericd's craving for
character, style, and rugged individualism, as well as its less-admirable
ostentation and glib love of fashion. 1In general, the rectangular, frontally-
oriented commercial block of the post-wir years was still used, but with

a variety of new styles, sometimes combined on the same facade. Romanesque
Revival was the most popular (#'s 2,8,10), but Colonial Revival (#12),
Classical Revival (#23), Flemish Revival, a variation of the Chateauesque
style (#5), and even some Sullivanesque (carved stone ornament on #1) all
survive.

In the 1920's, Burlington experienced another boom period which was based
largely on its diversified industrial base and a prosperous national economy.

. New construction in the downtown area tended to employ either a Moderne/

Mrt Deco or Neo-classical style. Some of the city's best examples of these
styles lie within the district. Foremost is the Flynn Theater (#14), a
lavish fArt Deco moviehouse built in 1930 and recently restored to full
splendor as a performing arts theater., Its brightly-colored marquee is a
downtown landmark. The Mchuliffe Building (#8), built in 1928, has a less
sophisticated Style Moderne facade of patterned brickwork. City Hall (#11)
and the Merchants Bank (#9), built in 1928 and 1931 respectively, are two
outstanding Neo-classical style buildings. The former is a somewhat whimsical
McKim, Mead and White adaptation of classical/colonial motifs, while the
latter displays a more formal and elegant facade of polished marble,

One reason for the high quality of Burlington's Victorian architecture was
the ready availability of local building materials and skilled labor.

Nfter the Civil war, industries on the waterfront produced not only lumber,
but also wood building ornament, dressed and carved stone trim, and cast
iron building materials, Furthermore, the large force of highly skilled
craftsmen asscciated with these industries undocubtedly had an impact on the
local construction.market. With materials and workmanship so accessible
and relatively inexpensive, builders could often afford to bestow ornamen-
tation and stylistic detailing on their creations.
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Burlington was also blessed for most of the 19th century with talented
local builders and architects. Commercial structures in the early and
middle decades were essentially vernacular in character, following tra-
ditional forms and plans, and the men who built them were, for the most
part, more accurately termed "master builders® than architects, The

first true architect to practice extensively in Burlington was A, B.
Fisher, whose work over the years 1875-1895 established him as the pre-
mier Victorian architect in northwestern Vermont, His best work appears
on scores of high-style residences in the city's fashionable Hill Sec=
tion, but he also influenced the city's commercial architecture, chiefly
through his son Clellan, who joined Fisher's firm in the 1880's and imme-
diately specialized in commercial designs. Of the dozen or more buildings
in the downtown area attributed to him, the most impressive are the Ethan
Allen Engine Company #4 (#10) and the first Burlington Trust Company Build-
ing (#2).

In 1898, a struggling young architect named Walter R. B. Willcox received
the first important commission of his career: to produce a design for the
new Burlington Savings Bank. The stylish Flemish Revival building which
he produced is probably the most academic work of architecture in downtown
Burlington, After designing another score of buildings in the city over
the next decade, Willcox moved west and became the most influential educa-
tor of architects on the Pacific coast.

The significance of the City Hall Park Historic District goes far beyond
the relative architectural merits of its various components. The district
should be viewed as a coherent whole, in which individual buildings contri-
bute their own unique qualities to the integrity of a broader streetscape,
Within the district there are five distinct streetscapes which must be
addressed in this context; any change to an individual building within one
of these streetscapes will affect the appearance of the whole street and,
to a degree, the whole district. These streetscapes are: #1-5, looking
north from the park; #9-11, looking east from the park; #12-17, looking
south from the park; #8-11, looking west from Church Street; and #17-24,
looking west from Church Street.

Further historical background on individual buildings can be found within
the Description section,
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The boundary of the City Hall Park Historic District begins at a Point A, located at
the northeast corner of the second Merchants Bank property (#1). The boundary thence
runs south along the east property of said property and a southerly extension thereof,
crossing College Street, to a Point B, located on the south curb of College Street,
Thence the boundary runs east along said curb to Point C, located at the intersection
of the south curb of College Street and the west curb of Church Street. The boundary
thence runs south along the west curb of Church Street, crossing Main Street, and con-
tinuing along said curb to a Point D, located at the intersection of the west curb of

Church Street and the north curb of King Street. From Point D, the district boundary
runs west along the north curb of King Street to a Point E, located at the intersec-

tion of the north curb of King Street and a southerly extension of the west property

line of the Mills House property (#24), The boundary: thence runs north along said
southerly extension and along the rear (west) property lines of properties #24, 23 and
22, to a Point F, located at the intersection with:the rear (south property line of the
Flynn Theatre property (#14). The boundary thence proceeds in a westerly direction

along the rear (south) property line of said property to Point G, located at the inter-
section of the west property line of the Flynn Theatre property (#14)., The boundary
thence proceeds in a northerly direction along the west propetrty line of said property
to a Point H, located at an interior 90 degree angle in the rear property line of said
property where the property line changes direction from north/south to east/west. Thence
the boundary proceeds in a westerly direction along the rear (south) property line of the
Flynn Theatre property (#14) to Point I, located at the intersection of the eastern pro-
perty line of the Hotel Vermont property (#12). The boundary thence runs south along
said east property line to a Point J, located at the intersection of the south property
line of the Hotel Vermont property (#12). Thence the boundary proceeds in a westerly
direction along the rear (south) property line of the Hotel Vermont property (#12) and

a westerly extension thereof to Point K, located at the intersection of the easterm curb
of St, Paul Street. The boundary thence proceeds in a northerly direction along the east
curb of St, Paul Street, crossing Main Street, continuing along said east curb line,
crossing College Street, and continuing north along said curb line to Point L, located

at the intersection of a westerly extension of the north property line of the Burlington
Savings Bank's St, Paul Street annex property (#6). Thence the boundary runs easterly
along said extension and said north property line to Point M, located at the intersection
of the eastern property line of the Burlington Savings Bank's St. Paul Street annex pro-
perty (#6). Thence the boundary proceeds in a southerly direction along the east pro-
perty line of said property to a Point N, located at the intersection of the north pro-
perty line of the old Burlington Trust Company building property (#2). Thence the boun-
dary runs easterly along said north property line and the north property line of the
second Merchants Bank property (#1), to Point A, the point of beginning,

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

¥ The boundary of the City Hall Park Historic District is justified as follows: to the J
west the boundary coincides with the eastern boundary of the Wells-Richardson Historic
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District {NR); to the southwest and south it coincides with the northeast corner of the
Battery Street Historic District (NR); and to the southeast it borders on two individual
National Register properties (the ChitterjfigEN Efrthouse and the U.S. Customs
House and Post Office), so that over half the district borders directly on properties
already listed on the National Register.

The remaining boundary, to the east and northeast, borders almost completely on the
Church Street Marketplace, an outdoor pedestrian mall completed in 1981, Although much
of the Marketplace consists of historically significant commercial architecture, the
addition of large steel and glass canopies and other contemporary pedestrian landscaping

elements have affected its historic character and now define the area as a separate entity.

The only part of the City Hall Park Historic District not bordered directly by either
National Register properties or the Church Street Marketplace is to the northwest, where
modern buildings create a natural visual border for the district.
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